1948

Leon Stucki v. James Ellis, W. H. Stewart, June S. Spackman, Clare Spackman, Thomas A. Tarbet and Magnus Olsen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 16th day of October, 1945, Clare Spackman and June S. Spackman were the owners of a small home and lot in Logan, Utah, and on that day they sold the property to the defendant James Ellis, who with his wife and family moved into occupancy thereof. Ellis and his wife had two or three small children. The

Spackmans were at all times concerned with this case, a married couple with one child (Tr. 46) and had no other property in Utah. They were residents of Utah, and the daughter and son-in law, respectively, of defendant W. H. Stewart.

The plaintiff knew that Ellis was a married man residing in Utah, upon the property in question with his family. (Tr. 30). The property in question was never worth in excess of the fair cash value of \$1500.00, which sum was the final purchase price to the Appellant. This is not denied by the reply of plaintiff, and which amount is not in controversy in this case.

Thomas A. Tarbet was the head of a family. His Father died in June, 1942, prior to his entry upon military duties in May, 1943 (Tr. 89). His Mother considered Thomas head of the family after the death of her husband. He supported her and her invalid daughter (his sister) (Tr. 84-85). While he was in the military service he supported his Mother and Sister, and upon his return from the Service he came back home and went to work and used his earnings to support the family. They had no other means of support and the Mother considered him the head of the family. (Tr. 85). The daughter had been in the American Fork School and could only do housework at home. This testimony is undisputed and in fact is not controverted even by inference. Tom, his Mother and Sister lived as a family until Tom was married on the 23rd of March, 1946, and

lived with his wife in the home of his Mother until he moved into the home which he purchased from Ellis on February 25th, 1946, on which date Ellis was occupying the property with his family. (Tr. 93). There was no break in the continuity of his being the head of a family at any time. Since Ellis had not paid in full for the property he had not received the deeds, and therefore, the deed was taken directly from the Spackmans to Tarbet (Tr. 59) and both the Spackmans and Ellis were paid in full by Tarbet, who received a deed (Cross Defs. Ex. No. 2). (Defs. Ex. "D" - Tr. 62, being the settlement to Ellis). The abstract of title was brought down to date at the time of the purchase of the property. (Deed from Spackmans dated March 1, 1964, (Tr. 67), which showed marketable title in the Spackmans, (Tr. 72, Ex. "I".)

Tarbet knew nothing of any claimed lien by plaintiff, and on March 15th, 1946, the plaintiff filed in the office of the County Recorder of Cache County, Utah, the Mechanic's Lien attached to plaintiff's complaint.

All of the parties were residents of Cache County, Utah (See allegation of residence as to the Spackman's in deed set forth in Tarbet's Amended Answer and Cross-Complaint).

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. That the Court erred in finding in favor of the Plaintiff and Respondent, and against this Defendant and Appellant, and in entering and signing its Judge-

ment and Decree of Foreclosure of Mechanic's Lien.

2. That the Court erred in entering and making it's finding of Fact No. 7, and Conclusion of Law based thereon - No. 2.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Does a homestead exemption run with a transfer of the property, and may the exemption be asserted by the grantee to defeat a mechanic's lien which pre-dates the transfer of the property to the grantee?

ARGUMENT

The facts are simple and the issues narrowed to the only important matter to be decided—namely: even though Ellis and the Spackmans did not take any affirmative action to impress the character of a homestead on the property, may Tarbet now do so? And, was Tarbet the “head of a family”?

These will be taken up in the order stated.

Without reference to any of the decisions, the matter is set at rest by our statute—UCA 1943, 38-0-2. EFFECT OF CONVEYANCE—PROCEEDS OF SALE EXEMPT. “When a homestead is conveyed by the owner thereof such conveyance shall not subject the premises to any lien or encumbrance to which it would not be subject in the hands of the owner . . .” The remainder of the section applies to the proceeds of the sale and is not pertinent. The language is simple and can mean only one thing, i. e, if the homestead exemption

could have been asserted by Ellis or the Spackmans, then the conveyance to Tarbet would not subject the property to the lien of the Plaintiff. The rule is well stated in 40 C. J. S., p. 612. "It is a well established general rule, almost universally followed, that when a homestead is sold the exempt character of the homestead property existing at the time of the sale runs with the transfer and as far as the rights of the purchaser are concerned, no claim of judgement against the vendor can be asserted against the property which could not be enforced during the time the debtor occupied it as a residence." Note in 65 A. L. R., p. 1209.

The conveyance does not place the creditor in any better position than he was before the transfer. *Campbell vs. Largilliere Co., Bankers*, 256 P. 371, (Idaho): "If the property was exempt before the conveyance, we fail to see what rights the judgement creditor gains by the transfer. A guarantee of a homestead holds it free from a judgement which could not have been asserted against it when it remained the homestead of his grantor." The rule is so even though a transfer of the property is made for the purpose of defeating creditors. *Daniels vs. Smith*, 169 Pac. 267, (Utah), *Brennecke vs. Rieman*, 102 S. W. (2d) 874, (Mo.), 109 A. L. R. 1214. *Custer vs. Block, et al.* 82 P. 2d 282, (N. M.). "There was no evidence offered as to the value of the homestead. We cannot presume that its value exceeded the homestead exemption. We held in *Corn v. Hyde*, 26 N. M. 36, 188

P. 1102, that property exempt as a homestead could be conveyed free from a judgement lien''. Citing with approval *Brennecke vs. Rieman*, supra. *Oklahoma State Bank v. Van Hassel, et al*, 114 P. 2d 912 (Okla.), *Rawleigh Co., vs. Groschlose, et al*, 49 P. 2d 1085 (Okla.), *Dreyfus v. Dickason*, 56 P. 2d 881.

So far as the writer has been able to discover there are only two states in the U. S. holding to the contrary, namely, Louisiana and North Carolina, but even these are not necessarily contrary because of the statutory provisions of the homestead acts. See 40 C. J. S. 613, note 98. In comparing the rulings in these two States it will be noted that our Statute (38-0-2) prevents just what the rulings in Louisiana and North Carolina permit.

Certainly the equities in this case are with Tarbet, and not with Stucki.

Stucki had an opportunity to protect himself by requiring security in advance of any labor or material furnished. Tarbet had none. He did what a normal person would do even though he was young and inexperienced. He secured a warranty deed and abstract of title, and when he paid over the full purchase price he had no means of knowing that Stucki claimed a lien on the premises. The thoroughly considered case of *Panaopulos v. Manning*, 69 P. 2d 614, (Utah), holds that a homestead right is not a mere privilege, but is

an absolute right, well states the public policy in this state as follows: "it (homestead law) was an enlightened public policy, looking to the general welfare as well as to that of the individual citizen, which dictated the passage of the homestead act; and the obvious intent of the act is to secure to every householder or head of a family a home, a place of residence, which he may improve and make comfortable, and where the family may be sheltered and live beyond the reach of those financial misfortunes which even the most prudent and sagacious cannot always avoid."

There has been much eloquent language used by this Court, and all Courts of our land upon the question of public policy with relation to homestead exemption, and these are contrary to the holding of the Court below where he said: (Tr. 103-104) "As I understand the statute with respect to homestead exemptions, it doesn't mean a mechanic's lien just cannot take effect as against property that might be claimed as a homestead that the lien is enforceable until the homestead exemption is claimed, and unless that is done the lien certainly should be valid and subsisting." Then again: "I believe that this homestead exemption is an exemption which is more or less a personal one, that is one which attaches to the person or for the benefit of the persons involved—that is the family—for their protection, and that it does not attach to the property itself, but that is a right which the individual has to claim, and it isn't like a

blue block put in with a number of other blocks, all the time carrying this one particular exemption attached to that property". Of course, the Court's reasoning is just contrary to the expressions of this Higher Court. *Utah Builders' Supply Co. v. Gardner*, 39 P. 2d 327 (Utah). "... such rights are founded upon public policy *for the protection of the home and the prosperity of the state* (Italicizing mine) carrying out the policy of republics to encourage and multiply freeholders, the natural supporters and defenders of a free government . . . (quoting *Volker-Scrowcroft Lumber Co. v. Vance*, 32 Utah 74, 88 P. 896) a homestead right is for the benefit of the family, and such right cannot be frittered away even by the head of a family". So it is not a right which Ellis could have "frittered away" by not asserting it. But further than this, the mechanic's lien was void. The *Utah Builders' Supply* case (*supra*) holds just that with relation to judgements. If a judgement lien is void, so is a mechanic's lien. They are both creatures of statute and nothing more. Quoting from the *Utah Builders' Supply* case again: "It has become the settled law of this state that an execution levied upon premises constituting a homestead of a judgement debtor is absolutely void, not merely voidable. *Antelope Shearing Corral Co. vs. Cons. Wagon and Mach. Co.*, 54 Utah 355, 180 P. 597. The case also held that a judgement cannot become a lien upon the judgement creditor's homestead, that an execution or attachment levied thereon is void, and therefore an order of sale

entered by the court is equally impotent". And so is the decree ordering the foreclosure and sale of the property in this case void, and not merely voidable.

As to Assignment of Error No. 2, it is of course entirely in line with the last quotation to state, that if the lien was void, and not merely voidable, than the sale to Tarbet, could not revive the mechanic's lien. It was "stillborn", and there was nothing to revive. No reasonable mind can disagree with the premise that Tarbet was not the head of the family. The Mother considered him so; he worked at Bushnell for over \$59 per week, was the sole support of the family; allotted his pay while in the Service to his Mother; came home and went to work again. The only other contribution to her support was from the Public Welfare while he was in the Service, and after he married. The right to proceed against a homestead, claimed exempt, places the burden of proof on the one asserting the right to proceed. *De Priest vs. Ransom*, 193 P. 2d 191 (Kan.) Advance Sheet, June 11, 1948.

In reliance upon the question as to whether or not Tarbet was "head of the family" the unreversed case of *Bunker vs. Coons*, 60 P. 549 (Utah), is cited. About the only difference being is that Bunker owned title to the property consisting of the homestead of the family, and in the case at bar, the Mother of Tarbet owned the residence. The ownership of property is not determinative of the question: "Who is head of the family?"

Bunker was the son of a widow. So is Tarbet. Bunker was the sole support of the family. So was Tarbet. Bunker was absent from the homestead for a year or two as a freighter. So was Tarbet as a soldier. Bunker came back and lived with his Mother. So did Tarbet. Bunker, when he came back used the proceeds of his labor to support his Mother. So did Tarbet. Turn to page 91 of the Transcript: (After return from Military Service). O. "Where did you go from the station at which you were discharged?" "A. . . . At Home" . . . "And who was living there then? A. My Sister and my Mother. Q. Did they have any means of support so far as you could see other than what they had been receiving from the— A. No sir. Q. Now what did you do in the way of employment? A. At first I had quite a time getting a job. Well, I had saved quite a little bit while I was in the service, and we used that. About fifteen or twenty days after I got a job at the Baugh Motor. Q. And have you been employed continuously ever since then? A. Yes.

The writer does not actually believe that the lower Court well considered its finding No. 7 and Conclusion No. 2. Refer to page 85 of the Transcript and recall that Mrs. Tarbet's husband had died leaving her with a daughter who had been committed to the American Fork School, and one son who went into the Military Service. "Q. Did he go to work between the time he came home from Japan and when he got married? Did he work be-

fore he got married? . . . A. Why sure, he worked all the time. Q. What did he do with his money? A. Gave it to the house. Q. Did you have any other means of support? A. No sir. Q. Who did you feel was then the head of your family? A. He was.

In conclusion permit the writer to state that a family consists of two or more persons living together as a unit, and that when a man in his twenties has done what Tarbet has done to maintain the integrity and independence evidenced in this case, and that the policy of Utah has historically been based on a liberal interpretation of the homestead laws, and that the plaintiff and respondent had all the opportunity to protect himself, and Tarbet had none, then the decision and judgement of the lower Court should be reversed.

Respectfully Submitted,
GEO. D. PRESTON
Attorney for Defendant and
Appellant, Thomas A. Tarbet.

Received copy of within
Brief at Logan, Utah, on the
..... day of, 1948.

Attorney for Plaintiff and
Respondent.

Attorney for Defendants W. H. Stewart, June S.
Spackman and Clare Spackman.