1948

Leon Stucki v. James Ellis, W. H. Stewart, June S. Spackman, Clare Spackman, Thomas A. Tarbet and Magnus Olsen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Respondent submits that the trial court made no error in its finding of fact number seven, nor in its

second conclusion of law, that Tarbet is not entitled to assert any homestead exemption adverse to plaintiff's foreclosure of his mechanic's lien herein.

Tarbet and his mother both admitted that Tarbet lived with his mother in **her home** and as a member of **her family**. She did not live with her son as a member of **his family**. (Tr. 85-87) Hence Tarbet cannot qualify as the "head of his mother's family" as specified and defined by statute,—Sec. 38-0-5.

The fact that he had an allotment of \$50.00 per month sent home to his mother while he was in the Armed Services, (of which it will not be denied the Government supplied \$28 per month) would not, standing alone, make him the head of his mother's family. His mother testified that she drew relief from the Welfare for a long time prior to receiving the allotment checks; that when the allotment checks started they (the Welfare) stopped her relief checks, and that after the allotment checks stopped, "they started me on relief again." (Tr. 88) This was admitted by appellant. (Tr. 90) Hence Tarbet cannot qualify as the head of a family and the sole provider for his mother—Bunker v. Coons, 21 Utah 164,—and the Court made no error in its finding and conclusion in that respect.

Tarbet admits that he did not get married until March 23, 1946, (Tr. 94) and that he and his wife even lived with his mother for a while after that, before he moved into possession of the property in question. (Tr. 95) All of these facts clearly show. (1) That Tarbet was not the head of his mother's

family and (2) that he could make no homestead claim in his own right until after March 23, 1946. Before that date plaintiff's lien had long since attached to the property.

After the work had been completed, (January 22, 1946) appellant could not defeat plaintiff's lien by entering marriage relationship. *Evans v. Jensen*, 51 Utah 1, 168 P. 762.

In case at bar, Tarbet did not own or have any interest in the property when the repair work was done and when the lien attached. By statute, Sec. 52-1-5, plaintiff's lien related back to January 2, 1946, when the work was begun.

A homestead right may be asserted only by those entitled to the right, and only those may claim the homestead exemption who are mentioned in the homestead laws. No one may assert a homestead claim under the doctrine of subrogation. 40 C.J.S. 691.

Appellant's counsel asks: "Even though Ellis and the Spackmans did not take any affirmative action to impress the character of a homestead on the property, may Tarbet now do so?" Our answer is, "No". The statute, Sec. 52-1-3 grants an absolute mechanic's lien, without any exceptions, for labor done and materials furnished. The homestead statute, Sec. 38-0-1, provides that the homestead shall be exempt from judgment liens and execution or forced sales, but the statute does not say the homestead shall be exempt

from a mechanics lien. But this Court has held that the homestead claim is exempt from mechanic's lien if the homestead claim is properly set up and asserted, *Voker Lumber Co. v. Vance*, 88 P. 896.

Hence it is submitted that if James Ellis had any homestead right in that property (which we do not concede he had at time of suit) he would have to assert and set up such homestead right,—take affirmative action to impress the character of a homestead on that property—in order to defeat plaintiff's foreclosure proceedings. If Ellis had not sold out his interest and was still in possession of the property, the plaintiff could still foreclose his mechanic's lien if Ellis did not set up and assert his homestead exemption. Ellis could waive that right. In other words the statute does not set up the homestead exemption against a mechanic's lien like it does the homestead exemption against judgment liens. Hence the mechanic's lien when properly filed is a lien on the homestead property and can only be defeated by affirmatively setting up the homestead claim; whereas the judgment lien is no lien at all upon the homestead. The statute which appellant relies on merely says that the homestead premises may be sold by the homestead claimant, the owner, free and clear of any judgment lien.

But counsel says: "The matter is set at rest by our statute, Sec. 38-0-2,—'When a homestead is conveyed by the owner thereof,' etc." Our answer is, that even if Ellis had been the "owner" of the premises

at the time he sold out his interest, February 25, 1946, which he was not, the conclusion reached by counsel doesn't follow. Query, whether Ellis could qualify as **owner**? We think it is appellant's failure to observe the distinction between mechanic's lien and judgment lien, as affecting the homestead, that has gotten him into his present difficulty.

The statute which he quotes, Sec. 38-0-2, says: "When a homestead is conveyed by the **owner** thereof such conveyance shall not subject the premises to any lien or encumbrance to which it would not be subject in the hands of the owner." This is in harmony with Sec. 38-0-1, which says that the homestead is "not subject to a judgment lien or forced sale," hence a sale of the homestead property does not subject it to any such lien or forced sale. The homestead premises are, however, subject to the mechanic's lien, in the hands of the owner, for Sec. 52-1-3 grants a mechanic's lien without exception. Hence Sec. 38-0-2 does not affect such continuing mechanic's lien,—does not free the property from such lien.

The homestead is often spoken of as a shield for the protection of the family from creditors of the homestead claimant. Now counsel seems to claim the right to stretch and expand this shield, not for the protection of the homestead claimant's family, but as a shield over the property itself in the hands of the new grantee and for the protection of the new purchaser. This, counsel asserts, is the effect of Sec. 38-

0-2, even though the new purchaser is not entitled to claim a homestead in the premises in his own right; even though he is not the head of a family.

There are two or three additional reasons why Tarbet cannot claim or set up any homestead exemption to defeat plaintiff's present foreclosure proceeding: He fails to specify whether he claims the homestead exemption of Ellis, or of the Spackmans. We think appellant should specify as to whose homestead he relies on as his defense. In addition to the fact that as a matter of law Tarbet has no right to claim, set up, or assert, the homestead right or exemption of either Ellis or the Spackmans, we submit that appellant should at least specify on which one he relies when he asserts such right. If his answer is that he relies on both, then he is in the position of asserting that both parties had homestead rights and exemptions in the same property and at the same time,—that June Spackman had a homestead right in that property after she executed a contract of sale of said premises to James Ellis, and let Ellis and his family into possession of the premises. After that contract of sale was signed (October 16, 1945) the Spackmans we submit, had no longer any right of possession in said premises and would have no right to claim any homestead therein. The record is silent as to where the Spackmans resided or that they signed their names to the contract of sale to Ellis (October 16, 1945) and the deed to conveyance to Tarbet (March 1, 1946), both of which deals and papers their father, W. H.

Stewart, made and prepared for them. Hence we do not see how June Spackman could claim a homestead in that property. Nor did the Spackmans ever assert any homestead rights in that property until they filed their Answer, in case at bar, which was long after they had conveyed the premises to Tarbet by their warranty deed.

James Ellis had sold out his contractual interest in said premises, and no longer had any interest therein. We have noted that when Ellis sold his interest (February 25, 1946) he got \$800 in cash for his equity in his contract of purchase. Hence Ellis had abandoned his contract of purchase. He had lost all his right to purchase said premises, as well as any right of possession therein. By selling out his equitable interest in said premises he forfeited and abandoned his contract and any homestead rights he might have had under that contract of purchase. In the case of *Swanson v. Anderson*, 38 P. (2d) 1065, the Oregon court said:

The right of homestead however does not exist after the right of possession is lost, and the right of possession ceases when the contract is lawfully terminated.

40 C.J.S. pg 522, reads as follows:

Forfeiture or abandonment of contract. The homestead right is lost with the loss of the rights of the purchaser under his contract for the purchaser of land.

To the same effect is *Montgomery v. Wise*, 62 P. (2d) 647, (Okla.) Clearly after Ellis sold out, he could

not thereafter claim any homestead right in the premises; so how can appellant now claim the right to set up Ellis' homestead rights?

Counsel again asserts that the statute, Sec. 38-0-2, "is simple and can mean only one thing, i.e. if the homestead exemption could have been asserted by Ellis or the Spackmans then the conveyance to Tarbet would not subject the property to the lien of plaintiff." Again we repeat that counsel jumps to a long unwarranted conclusion and assumes much in making such a statement, which is, of course, not justified under the facts and the law: (1) He assumes that Ellis or the Spackmans could have asserted a homestead exemption in said premises, in this action, which we have shown is not true, and (2) counsel also assumes that if either Ellis or the Spackmans could assert a homestead claim in said premises (he does not bother to designate which) then Tarbet may now assert such claim, even though he cannot assert a homestead claim in his own right. This is a new and unwarranted conclusion under the statute or law which he cites. We have never heard of such a contention before. We doubt whether this Court has. Yet for support of the major premise of his contention, subrogation of homestead right, counsel cites no authority. Certainly the statute (Sec. 38-0-2) which he cites and relies on does not justify or support such a contention.

We have no quarrel with the law quoted by counsel from 40 C.J.S. pg 612, nor with any of the other

authorities cited on pages 5 and 6 of appellant's brief to the effect that, "the conveyance does not place the creditor in any better position than he was before the transfer." We agree to that. We do **not** claim that that plaintiff and respondent is in any better position now than he was before the transfer (conveyance) of the property to Tarbet. But neither is the plaintiff in any worse position. The statute Sec. 38-0-2 does not affect the plaintiff's rights one way or the other.

We are willing to concede, for the sake of argument, that if Ellis had not sold out his interest and equity in the premises and in his contract of purchase, and if Ellis and his family were still in possession of and living on the premises and were present in court defending against plaintiff's present foreclosure proceedings, that then Ellis would have the right, if he chose to do so, to set up and assert a homestead right in said premises which would have the effect of defeating plaintiff's present foreclosure proceedings. But that fact does not permit or justify Tarbet's present contention that he (Tarbet) is now subrogated to, and may set up the homestead right of Ellis, which Ellis might have set up if Ellis had not sold out, abandoned his right to purchase, and moved away from the premises.

Appellant, in making such a contention, assumes both of his premises, on which his conclusion is based. Neither of his premises is true, nor in fact exists. Thus he assumes, (1) That if Ellis were present in court he (Ellis) could set up a homestead claim in the

premises. That is obviously not true, for Ellis has long since (February 25, 1946) sold out his interest in the premises, abandoned his contract and moved away from the premises. Ellis' whereabouts is unknown. (2) Next appellant assumes that he is subrogated to and may set up and claim the homestead rights which Ellis might have set up and claimed. That premise is equally false and untenable.

We think appellant is in much the same state of wishful thinking as the ardent fisherman was who, when asked how many fish he had caught, replied: "When I catch this one nibbling at my hook, and one more, I'll have two."

CROSS ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Court erred in granting defendant W. H. Stewart's motion for nonsuit and in its dismissal of the action as to him.

The Court granted Stewart's motion for nonsuit and dismissal under Sec. 33-5-4 (2) which provides that "every promise to answer for the debt, default or miscarriage of another" shall be void "unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith."

We think the facts herein bring defendant Stewart within the exceptions provided for in Sec. 33-5-6 (2) which provides. "A promise to answer for the obligation of another in any of the following cases is

deemed an original obligation of the promisor and need not be in writing:

“(2) Where the creditor parts with value or enters into an obligation in consideration of the obligation in respect to which the promise is made in terms or under circumstances such as to render the party making the promise the principal debtor and the person in whose behalf it is made his surety.”

If Stewart wasn't the real owner in selling the property to Ellis, he certainly had the same interest and anxiety to have the property repaired. He admitted he was looking after it and acting for his daughter June.

Ellis told the plaintiff that he was buying the property from Stewart and that Stewart said it was covered by insurance. But plaintiff was not willing to rely on Ellis's statement. Before undertaking to do any of the said repair work, plaintiff sent his foreman, Roy Earl, with Ellis over to see W. H. Stewart, so as to get that point clear as to who was going to be responsible,—where the money was coming from,—to pay for the repair work.

In substance Roy Earl testified as follows: “Ellis pleaded to have the work done; said the place was insured and that he was buying it from Mr. Stewart. Ellis introduced me to Mr. Stewart, and said. ‘Mr. Stewart, I haven't any money to pay for it. I understand this place has insurance on it.’ (Tr. 23) Stew-

art said, 'The place is covered by insurance, just as soon as the work is completed, if you will present me with a bil I'll see that it is paid.' I told Stewart I understood Mr. Butler had started to repair the premises. Stewart said, 'Mr. Butler has failed to keep his agreement, and there is no string attached to it, so when you complete the work, present the bill and I'll see that it is paid.' (Tr. 24)

"When I told Stewart that he had told us the house was covered by insurance, he said, 'the house was covered by insurance, but Mr. Garff had cancelled it out.' (Tr. 27)"

Cross Examination by Mr. Preston:

"Q. So when you did the work you relied on Mr. Stewart's statement of insurance?"

"A. Absolute y. (Tr. 29) Mr. Stewart said there would be no responsibility on Mr. Ellis' part, that we were to present the bill to him and he would see that it was paid. Mr. Stewart was to take care of the collection of the insurance. He assured us that the insurance would pay for the repair work. He asked me what the cost of the repair work would be. I told him between \$300 and \$400. Stewart said that's a hundred dollars cheaper than Mr. Butler agreed to do it for." (Tr. 31)

The fact that Stewart had previously had an "agreement" with Butler to do that repair work (who had failed to keep his agreement) is significant, we

submit, as showing: (1) That Stewart was the real party interested in having said premises repaired, and (2) Stewart was the man providing the money for the repair work. Stewart did not deny that part of Earl's testimony. Stewart was also interested in knowing the estimated amount of the repair bill, which further shows that Stewart expected to provide the money.

In its finding No. 3, the Court found:

The Court finds that after said premises had thus been partially destroyed by fire, the plaintiff was induced to repair the same by said James Ellis and W. H. Stewart, under promise and agreement by them to pay the repair bill in full as soon as the work was completed. That said W. H. Stewart represented to the plaintiff and his agent that said premises was covered by fire insurance, and that he would see that plaintiff's money was ready as soon as the repair work was completed.

We think the trial court erred in its ruling dismissing as to Stewart, for under the circumstances and facts in case at bar Stewart's representation that the place was insured, and that he would see that the money was paid as soon as the repair work was done and the bill presented, was solely relied on by plaintiff, and made Stewart the principal obligor. Plaintiff did not rely on Ellis to pay the repair bill. As we have seen, Ellis stated right in front of Stewart, when he introduced plaintiff's foreman, that he (Ellis) had no money. Plaintiff parted with value (labor and materials) in respect to the payment of which Stewart's representation and promise was "made in terms or under circumstances such as to render the party

making it (Stewart) the principal debtor and the person in whose behalf it is made (Ellis) his surety."

A promise to pay for labor or materials is not within the statute where the contract is performed solely on the credit of the promisor, who has a beneficial interest in the performance of the contract. 37 C.J.S. 540.

Stewart does not claim that his promise was a collateral obligation, or that of a surety for Ellis—that Stewart would pay if Ellis didn't. Stewart denies that Roy Earl ever came and talked to him. The foreman, Roy Earl, is not contradicted that Ellis stated right in front of Stewart and Earl that he (Ellis) had no money. Stewart's statement to plaintiff's foreman, was definite, clear and unequivocal, that the premises were covered by insurance, and that as soon as the work was done and the bill presented, he (Stewart) would see it was paid. What statement could be more assuring, or would better allay any fears or better induce plaintiff and his foreman to proceed and do the repair work?

The plaintiff relied upon Stewart's promise. He did not look to or expect Ellis to pay for the repair bill. Plaintiff did not send the bill to Ellis, but he mailed the bill directly to Stewart. This also shows that there was no doubt in plaintiff's mind as to who should pay; that plaintiff relied solely upon Stewart and that he expected Stewart to send him a check or see that the bill was paid.

It was an **original** obligation, of Stewart, which was not within the Statute. It was not a promise to pay Ellis' debt. Ellis had no money. Plaintiff was not anxious to do that repair work, and did so only on Stewart's assurance that the money would be ready when the work was completed.

It is important to note that Stewart apparently thought that he had the insurance policy, for he testified: "At the time of the fire, I didn't have the insurance. When El is came in after the fire, we got busy to find out why he (Curtis) hadn't brought the insurance in as he agreed to. We found Orson Garff had cancelled it. Then immediately I wrote fire insurance on the property, but that was after the fire." (Tr. 57)

While in the case of *McMillan v. Dickover*, 248 P. 154, the Oregon court held defendant's promise was a collateral promise, and thus within the statute, the Oregon court quotes and states the rules of law applicable in concise and clear terms. The Oregon court uses this language.

. . . If the promise is collateral, it is within the statute of frauds and plaintiff cannot prevail; but if there is evidence tending to show an original obligation on the part of defendant, the finding of the jury in reference thereto is conclusive.

In determining whether a given state of facts constitutes an original or a collateral promise, the intention of the parties controls, and this must be ascertained from the words used in making

the promise, the situation of the parties, and all of the circumstances surrounding the transaction. *Masters et al. v. Bidler et al.*, 101 Or. 322, 198 P. 912, 199 P. 920; *Mackey v. Smith et al.*, 21 Or. 598, 28 P. 974; 25 R.C.L. 489. Where the language used by the parties is ambiguous and the intention is not clear, it is a question of fact for the jury as to whether a promise is original or collateral. *Masters et al. v. Bidler et al.*, *supra*; *Mackey v. Smith et al.*, *supra*. As stated in 25 R.C.L. 490:

"Where the language used, together with the surrounding facts and circumstances, makes it doubtful whether the parties intended by the promise to create an original or a collateral obligation, the intention should be determined by the jury."

However, when the facts are undisputed and but one reasonable inference can be drawn therefrom, it becomes a question of law for the court to determine. 27 R.C.L. 390; *Breidenback et al. v. Upper Valley Orchards Co.*, 57 Mont. 247, 187 P. 1008; *Masters et al. v. Bidler et al.*, *supra*.

Justice Brewer, in *Davis v. Patrick*, 141 U.S. 479, 12 S. Ct. 58, 35 L. Ed. 826, says:

"* * * The real character of a promise does not depend altogether upon the form of expression, but largely on the situation of the parties; and the question always is, what the parties mutually understood by the language, whether they understood it to be a collateral or a direct promise."

Courts are concerned with substance rather than form.

The primary inquiry is. To whom was credit extended at the time of the sale: Did plaintiff rely exclusively upon the credit of defendant, or did he merely look to him as a guarantor? Shaw, C.J., in Cahill v. Bigelow, 18 Pock. (Mass.) 369, quoted with approval in Mackey v. Smith et al., supra, thus states the test:

“ ‘Was the credit given to the person receiving the goods? If it was, then such promisor is a guarantor only, undertaking to pay another’s debt. If no credit were given to the person receiving the goods, then the promisor is himself debtor for goods sold to him and delivered to another by his order.’ ”

In Brown v. Weber, 38 N. Y. 187, it is stated:

“The test to be applied to every case is, whether the party sought to be charged is the principal debtor, primarily liable, or whether he is only liable in case of the default of a third person; in other words, whether he is the debtor, or whether his relation to the creditor is that of surety to him for the performance, by some other person, of the obligation of the latter to the creditor.”

We think the trial court acted with haste, and without due consideration, and was also confused as to the proper rule of law applicable under the statute of frauds when applied to the facts in the case at bar. At the close of the case the court said:

THE COURT. As far as the relative material facts of this case are concerned, I doubt that there is much dispute. I granted the nonsuit against Mr. Stewart because I felt that it was incumbent upon the plaintiff to prove ownership in Mr. Stewart of this property in order to avoid the

statute of frauds. The most that can be given to the testimony was that Mr. Stewart had represented that there was insurance on the property and out of that insurance the repair bill would be paid when it was presented, and I think that is a fact; but I don't believe that either shows ownership in Mr. Stewart or any rights that he had in the property which would take it out of the statute of frauds, which requires that any promise to pay for the debts or defaults or miscarriage of any person must be in writing and signed by the person sought to be charged. (Tr. 102)

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